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IMMIGRATION LAW CENTER, 

Plaintiffs, 
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IMMIGRATION SERVICES, OFFICE OF THE 
INSPECTOR GENERAL, UNITED STATES 
DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE, and EXECUTIVE 
OFFICE FOR IMMIGRATION REVIEW, 

Defendants. 

COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE
 
RELIEF FOR VIOLATION OF THE
 
FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT, 5
 
U.S.c. § 552
 

- 1 ­

COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF FOR VIOLATION OF THE
 
FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT, 5 USC § 552
 



1 INTRODUCTION
 

2
 1. National Lawyers' Guild San Francisco Chapter ("NLG-SF"), American Civil Liberties
 

3
 Union Foundation of Southern California ("ACLU-SC"), and National Immigration Law Center 

4 ("NILe") (collectively "Plaintiffs") bring this action under the Freedom ofInfonnation Act ("FOIA"), 5 

5 U.S.c. § 552, for injunctive and other appropriate relief to enforce their right to agency records from the 

6 Department of Homeland Security ("DHS") and its components Immigration and Customs Enforcement 

7 ("DHS-ICE"), Customs and Border Protection ("DHS-CBP"), Citizenship and Immigration Services 

8 ("DHS-CIS"), and the Office of the Inspector General ("DHS-OIG"), as well as the Department of 

9 Justice ("DOJ") and the Executive Office of Immigration Review ("DOJ-EOIR") (collectively 

10 "Defendants"). DOJ is sued in its capaci ty as the parent agency of DOJ -EOIR. Plaintiffs seek records 

11 about Defendants' implementation of stipulated removal, a program under which nearly 100,000 aliens 

12 have been removed from the United States without hearings before immigration judges. 

13 Plaintiffs have filed two primary FOIA requests to obtain infonnation about stipulated 

14 removal, in December 2005 and February 2008. News reports, Congressional testimony, and agency 

15 press releases reveal that Defendants have broadly implemented stipulated removal on a nationwide 

16 basis for at least 12 years. Nevertheless, Defendants have failed to produce records that reflect the full 

17 scope of their implementation of stipulated removal, and the select documents produced by Defendants 

18 to date provide a strong indication that other documents have been improperly withheld. 

19 JURISDICTION 

20 3. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.c. § 1331. This
 

21 Court has subject matter over this action and personal jurisdiction over the parties pursuant to 5 U.S.c. §
 

22 552(a)(4)(B).
 

23
 
VENUE AND INTRADISTRICT ASSIGNMENT 

24 
4. Venue is proper in this district under 5 U.S.c. § 552(a)(4)(B) and 28 U.S.c. § 1391(e). 

25 
5. Assignment to the San Francisco division is proper pursuant to Local Rule 3-2(c) and (d), 

26 
because a substantial portion of the events giving rise to this action occurred in this district and division, 

27 
where PlaintiffNLG-SF is headquartered. 

28 
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PARTIES 

6. Plaintiff ACLU-SC is a statewide, nonpartisan, nonprofit organization of over 40,000 

members, dedicated to the preservation of civil liberties and civil rights. The ACLU-SC has litigated a 

number of immigrants' rights cases as part of its overall mission of litigation and advocacy to ensure 

immigrants' rights. The ACLU-SC maintains an enduring interest in protecting the due process rights 0 

immigrants and educating the public about government policies involving the detention and deportation 

of non-citizens. 

7. PlaintiffNILC is a non-profit national legal advocacy organization whose mission is to 

protect and promote the rights and opportunities of low-income immigrants and their families. NILC 

serves as an important resource to a broad range of immigrant advocacy and community organizations, 

and legal service organizations. Since its inception, NILC has litigated cases to ensure that immigrants' 

fundamental due process rights are protected, including the right to counsel, the right to an immigration 

hearing, and the right to apply for asylum. The current procedures used to obtain stipulated removal 

orders threaten to undermine all of these rights, as it appears that immigration judges often sign these 

stipulated removal orders without a hearing and with only minimal, if any, inquiry into the voluntariness 

of the waiver of a hearing. 

8. PlaintiffNLG-SF is a non-profit organization oflawyers, law students, legal workers, and 

jailhouse lawyers dedicated to the protection and fostering of democratic institutions and civil rights and 

civil liberties. The NLG-SF has an active immigration committee with many immigration attorney 

members, actively develops and distributes "know your rights" information to the public, and has been 

committed to defending human rights for over 70 years. 

9. Defendant DHS is a federal agency within the meaning of 5 U.S.c. § 552(f). Defendants 

DHS-ICE, DHS-CBP, DHS-OIG, and DHS-CIS are components ofDHS, and are federal agencies 

within the meaning of 5 U.S.c. § 552(f). DHS and its component agencies are responsible for 

administering the stipulated removal program. 

10. Defendant DOl is a federal agency within the meaning of 5 U.S.c. § 552(f). Defendant 

DOl-EOIR is a component of DOl, and is a federal agency within the meaning of 5 U.S.c. § 552(f). 

Administrative immigration judges are part of DOl -EOIR. Immigration regulations permit these judges 
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to enter stipulated removal orders presented to them by DHS officials without a hearing and in the 

absence of the alien subject to the order. 8 C.F.R. § 1003.25(b). 

STATUTORY FRAMEWORK 

11. FOIA, 5 U.S.c. § 552, mandates disclosure of records held by a federal agency in response t 

a request for such records by a member of the public unless records fall within certain narrow statutory 

exemptions. 

12. The basic purpose ofFOIA is to enable the public to hold the government accountable for its 

actions, through transparency and public scrutiny of governmental operations and activities. Through 

access to government information, FOIA helps the public better understand the government, thereby 

enabling a vibrant and functioning democracy. 

13. Any member of the public may make a request for records to an agency of the United States 

under FOIA. An agency that receives a FOIA request must respond in writing to the requestor within 20 

business days after the receipt of the request. 5 U.S.c. § 552(a)(6)(A)(I). In its response, the agency 

must inform the requestor whether or not it intends to comply with the request, provide reasons for its 

determination, and inform the requestor of his or her right to appeal the determination. Jd. 

14. A FOIA requestor who has been denied records may appeal the denial to the agency. The 

agency must make a determination on the appeal within 20 business days of receipt of the appeal. 5 

U.S.c. § 552(a)(6)(A)(ii). 

15. A FOIA requestor is deemed to have exhausted all administrative remedies if the agency fails 

to comply with the statutory time limits. 5 U.S.c. § 552(a)(6)(C)(I). 

16. FOIA requires an agency to timely disclose all records responsive to a FOIA request that do 

not fall within nine narrowly construed statutory exemptions. 5 U.S.c. § 552(a)(3)(A); 5 U.S.c. § 

552(b)(1 )-(b)(9). TI1e FOIA also requires an agency to make a reasonable search for responsive records. 

5 U.S.c. § 552(a)(3)(C); Zemansky v. Environmental Protection Agency, 767 F.2d 569, 571 (9th Cir. 

1985). 

17. Upon complaint, a district court has jurisdiction to enjoin the agency from withholding 

records and to order production of records that are subject to disclosure. 5 U.S.c. § 552(a)(4)(B). 
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FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS
 

A.	 DHS and DOl's Implementation of Stipulated Removal Has Resulted in the Removal of Nearly 

100,000 Aliens Without Hearings. 

18. Stipulated removal allows DOJ and DHS to remove an alien, even one with valid defenses 

against deportation, as long as DHS can persuade the alien to sign a stipulated order. Under current 

immigration regulations, an immigration judge may enter an order of removal against an alien "without 

a hearing and in the absence of the parties" if the alien signs a written document stipulating to the alien's 

removal. 8 C.F.R. § 1003.25(b) (2008). See also 8 U.S.C. § 1229a(d). If the alien is not represented by 

counsel, the immigration judge "must determine that the alien's waiver is voluntary, knowing, and 

intelligent." 8 C.F.R. § 1003.25(b) (2008). 

19. According to data released by DOJ-EOIR in response to Plaintiffs' FOIA requests, DOJ­

EOIR has entered 96,241 stipulated removal orders betwecn October 29, 1999 and June 11,2008. 

20. Defendants' implementation of stipulated removal raises significant due process concerns. 

Upon information and belief, Defendants are focusing the implementation of stipulated removal on the 

thousands of aliens in immigration detention, the vast majority of whom are not represented by counsel. 

DHS officials approach detained aliens, offering them a choice between obtaining release from detentiOl 

by signing a stipulated order, and remaining in detention to challenge their removal. 

21. According to media accounts, DHS officials have pressured detained aliens into signing 

stipulated removal orders, and aliens often sign stipulated removal orders without fully understanding 

the consequences. See e.g., Quick Deportations Raising New Alarm: Immigrant Advocates Say 

Detainees May Not Understand Rights, Chicago Tribune, Aug. 4, 2008, at Metro 1; Waivers Hasten 

Deportations, Charleston Gazette, Apr. 8,2007, at 4E; Alfonso Chardy, New Tactic Hastens 

Deportations, Miami Herald, Mar. 26, 2007, at lA; Detained Immigrants Lack Access to Legal 

Information, Daily Record, Mar. 21,2007; Recent Raids Create Demand for Legal Help, Organizers 

Mobilize, Kane County Chronicle, Mar. 8,2007, at News; Stacy Vogel, Immigrant Fights to Stay After 

Arrest, Janesville Gazette, August 24,2006; Phillip Yates, Lawyers Battle for Swift Workers Detained 

in Illegal Immigration Sting, Amarillo Globe-News, December 20,2006. 
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82. On April 8,2008, Plaintiffs timely filed an appeal. A copy of this letter is attached as Exhibit 

YY. 

83. On April 21, 2008, DHS-OIG acknowledged receipt of the appeal. A copy of this letter is 

attached as Exhibit ZZ. 

84. By the terms of 5 U.S.c. § 552(a)(6)(A)(ii), DHS-OIG's response to Plaintiffs appeal was 

due 20 days from receipt of the appeal. Although nearly six months have elapsed, Plaintiffs have yet to 

receive a response. Plaintiffs are deemed to have exhausted their administrative remedies by reason of 

DHS-OIG's failure to meet statutory time limits. 

85. DHS-OIG has wrongfully failed to make reasonable efforts to search for responsive records. 

86. DHS-OIG has wrongfully failed to release responsive records to Plaintiffs. 

87. Incomplete Response From DOJ-EOIR. By letter dated March 3,2008, DOJ-EOIR 

acknowledged receipt of Plaintiff s February 27, 2008 request, and stated that Plaintiffs may still be 

responsible for payment of fees determined due. DOJ-EOIR also asked that an additional 10 days be 

added to its response time. A copy of this letter is attached as Exhibit AAA. 

88. On March 20, 2008, Plaintiffs sent a letter to DOJ-EOIR, stating that to the extent that DOJ-

EOIR's letter constituted a denial of Plaintiffs' request for a fee waiver, Plaintiffs appeal that denial. A 

copy of this letter is attached as Exhibit BBB. 

89. On April 22, 2008, Plaintiffs contacted Cecelia Espenoza, Senior Associate General Counsel, 

DOJ-EOIR, to inquire about the status of the request. Ms. Espenoza stated that her office was 

processing the request, and that DOJ-EOIR would be responding with a CD-ROM of statistics as well as 

paper records. Ms. Espenoza stated that DOJ-EOIR would also conduct a search of public commentary 

records related to regulations promulgated by EOIR related to stipulated removal. Finally, Ms. 

Espenoza stated that DOJ-EOIR would waive the fees related to the FOIA request. A copy of a letter 

memorializing this conversation is attached as Exhibit CCC. 

90. On approximately May 13,2008, Plaintiffs telephoned Ms. Espenoza to ask about the status 

ofDOJ-EOIR's response. On May 15,2008, Ms. Espenoza contacted Plaintiffs to state that EOIR's 

response was being mailed that day. 
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91. On May 16,2008, Plaintiffs called Ms. Espenoza to inquire whether EOIR's anticipated 

response would be a partial or complete response. Plaintiffs again attempted to contact Ms. Espenoza 0 

May 23, 2008 and May 29, 2008. 

92. On May 31, 2008, Ms. Espenoza contacted Plaintiffs by telephone to suggest that they shoul 

contact Crystal Souza, FOIA Specialist Supervisor. Plaintiffs contacted Ms. Souza on May 31, 2008, 

and finally spoke to her on June 4,2008. Ms. Souza stated that DOJ-EOIR's response was sent out on 

June 2, 2008. 

93. DOJ-EOIR's June 2, 2008 response consisted ofa CD-ROM of statistical data about the 

stipulated removal program as well as 108 pages of heavily redacted photocopies. The paper portion of 

DOJ-EOIR's production consisted primarily of email correspondence between DOJ-EOIR and various 

non-profits implementing DOJ-EOIR's legal orientation program (LOP) at various immigration 

detention facilities. The LOP allows non-profits to make know-yom-rights presentations at immigration 

detention facilities. 

94. DOJ-EOIR also improperly withheld "several" pages in their entirety based on a FOIA 

exemption. 

95. Although DOJ-EOIR's CD-ROM data indicated that the agency had issued tens of thousands 

of stipulated orders against aliens across the country between October 29, 1999 and January 31, 2008, it 

did not include stipulated removal orders entered before October 1999. The data also did not include 

various statistics encompassed in the FOIA request, including the number of aliens who were 

represented by counsel when their stipulated orders were entered. 

96. On June 11,2008, Plaintiffs contacted Ms. Espenoza by telephone to ask for the additional 

data. Ms. Espenoza stated that the only additionally responsive data that EOIR compiled pertained to 

whether aliens who received stipulated removal were represented by counsel. Although this information 

was encompassed in the original request, Ms. Espenoza informed Plaintiffs that they should send a 

supplemental FOIA request to obtain the data. 

97. Accordingly, on June 12,2008, Plaintiffs sent Ms. Espenoza a supplemental FOIA request 

for the data on representation by counsel. A copy of this letter is attached as Exhibit DDD. On the sam 
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day, DOJ-EOIR sent via email look-up tables for the original CD-ROM data and clarified questions 

about the data via email. 

98. DOJ-EOIR acknowledged Plaintiffs' supplemental request in a letter dated June 16, 2008. A 

copy of this letter is attached as Exhibit EEE. DOJ-EOIR sent Plaintiffs a CD-ROM responding to 

Plaintiffs' supplemental FOIA request on June 23, 2008. 

99. Although DOJ-EOIR's own data indicates that it appears to have issued 96,241 stipulated 

removal orders between October 29, 1999 and June 11,2008, it has not responded with records 

responsive to other parts of Plaintiffs' request. DOJ-EOIR has not provided records relating to 

correspondence, training, or coordination with DHS regarding stipulated removal. Nor has it clarified 

the budget allocated for stipulated removal. Rather, DOJ-EOIR's paper production consists mainly of 

heavily redacted emails with non-profits who provide legal presentations at various immigration 

detention facilities. 

100. Based on these and other deficiencies in DOJ-EOIR's response, Plaintiffs timely filed an 

appeal from DOJ-EOIR's responses to their February 27,2008 and June 12,2008 FOIA requests. A 

copy of this letter is attached as Exhibit FFF. 

101. In letters dated July 24, 2008 and July 28,2008, DOJ-EOIR acknowledged Plaintiffs' 

appeals. Copies of these letters are attached as Exhibits GGG and HHH. 

102. By the terms of 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A)(ii), DOJ-EOIR's response to Plaintiffs' appeal was 

due 20 days from receipt of the appeal. Although more than three months have elapsed, Plaintiffs have 

yet to receive a response. Plaintiffs are deemed to have exhausted their administrative remedies by 

reason ofDOJ-EOIR's failure to meet statutory time limits. 

103. DOJ-EOIR improperly redacted information and improperly withheld documents based on 

assertions of various exemptions under the FOIA. 

104. DOJ -EOIR has wrongfully failed to make reasonable efforts to search for responsive 

documents. 

105. DOJ-EOIR has wrongfully failed to provide a complete response to Plaintiffs' FOIA 

requests. 
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C.	 Plaintiffs Qualify for Waiver of Processing and Duplication Fees As Representatives of the 

News Media Requesting Records in the Public's Interest. 

106. In Plaintiffs' February 27,2008 FOIA request, Plaintiffs requested waivers for fees 

associated with processing and duplication of responsive records as representatives of the news media 

requesting records in the public interest. See 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(A)(ii)-(iii). See also 6 C.F.R. § 

5.11(k)(1)(i)-(ii) (fees shall be waived or reduced where it is determined that "disclosure ... is in the 

public interest because it is likely to contribute significantly to public understanding of the operations or 

activities of the Government and ... is not primarily in the commercial interest of the requester"); 28 

C.F.R. § 16.11(k)(1)(i)-(ii) (same). 

107. Plainti ffs NILC, NLG-SF, and ACLU-SC use many approaches in disseminating information 

for the public benefIt, including, but not limited to, distributing their own print publications, sharing 

information with local and regional media through press releases, publishing reports and memoranda 

through internet websites, disseminating information on email subscription list-serves used by 

individuals and organizations working on immigration detention issues, and creating and disseminating 

"know-your-rights" materials. 

108. On March 29, 2008, DHS-ICE granted Plaintiffs a blanket waiver of fees, although on 

September 22, 2008, DHS-ICE indicated that Plaintiffs might be responsible for fees due. DOl-EOIR 

similarly has granted Plaintiffs a fee waiver. 

109. The other sub-agencies of DHS have not explicitly denied Plaintiffs' request for a fee waiver. 

Plaintiffs have protected their right to appeal by filing appeal letters with DHS, DHS-CBP, DHS-CIS, 

DHS-OIG, and DHS-ICE, arguing that to the extent these agencies have denied Plaintiffs' request for a 

fee waiver, Plaintiffs appeal that denial. See Exhibits V, X, BB, DD, II, JJ, QQ, TT, UU, ZZ, CCC, DD, 

and EEE. 

CAUSES OF ACTION
 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
 

Violation of FOIA for Wrongfully Withholding
 

Agency Records Sought by Plaintiffs' Requests
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110. Plaintiffs repeat and re-allege the factual allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 109 

above, inclusive. 

111. Plaintiffs have a legal right under FOIA to obtain the agency records they requested from 

Defendant DHS and its component agencies DHS-CIS and DHS-OIG on February 27,2008, and there 

exists no basis for these Defendants' failure to make available such records. 

112. Plaintiffs have a legal right under FOIA to obtain the agency records they requested from 

Defendant DHS-CBP on February 27,2008. There exists no basis for this Defendant's failure to make 

available all of the records responsive to Plaintiffs' request, and there exists no basis for the redactions 

on DHS-CBP's production. 

113. Plaintiffs have a legal right under FOIA to obtain the agency records they requested from 

Defendant DOJ, including its component agency DOJ-EOIR, on February 27,2008. There exists no 

basis for this Defendant's failure to make available all of the records responsive to Plaintiffs' request, 

and there exists no basis for the redactions on DOJ-EOIR's paper production and withholding of 

documents from that production. 

114. Plaintiffs have a legal right under FOIA to obtain the agency records they requested from 

Defendant DHS-ICE on February 27,2008. There exists no basis for this Defendant's failure to make 

available all of the records responsive to Plaintiffs' request, and there exists no basis for the redactions 

on DHS-ICE's production and withholding of documents from that production. 

115. Plaintiffs have a legal right under FOIA to obtain the agency records they requested from 

Defendant DHS-ICE on December 15,2005. There exists no basis for Defendant DHS-ICE's failure to 

make available all ofthe records responsive to Plaintiffs' request, and there exists no basis for the 

withholding of documents from that production. 

116. Defendants' wrongful withholding of agency records sought by Plaintiffs' requests violates 

FOIA, 5 U.S.c. §§ 552(a)(3)(A) and (a)(6)(A), and applicable regulations promulgated thereunder. 

117. Plaintiffs have exhausted all applicable administrative remedies with respect to Defendants' 

wrongful withholding of the requested records. 5 U.S.c. § 552(a)(6)(C)(i). 

118. Plaintiffs are entitled to injunctive relief with respect to the release and disclosure of the 

requested documents. 5 U.S.c. § 552(a)(4)(B). 
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SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

Violation of FOIA for Failure to Make Reasonable Efforts to Search for Records Responsive to 

Plaintiffs' Requests 

119. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through XX above, 

inclusive. 

120. Plaintiffs have a legal right under ForA to enforce all Defendants' obligation to make 

reasonable efforts to search for documents responsive to Plaintiffs' requests, and there exists no basis fo 

all Defendants' failure to make reasonable efforts to search for responsive records. 

121. Defendants' failure to make reasonable efforts to search for responsive documents violates 

FOIA,5 U.S.c. § 552(a)(3)(C), and corresponding agency regulations. 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

Violation ofFOIA for Defendant DHS, DHS-CBP, DHS-OIG, DHS-CIS, and DHS-ICE's Failure to 

Classify Plaintiffs ACLU-SC, NILC, and NLG-SF as a Representative of the News Media for Purposes 

of Assessing Processing Fees 

1. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through XX above, 

inclusive. 

2. Plaintiffs ACLU-SC, NILC, and NLG-SF have a legal right to be classified as a 

"representative of the news media" for purposes of assessing processing fees associated with Plaintiffs' 

FOIA requests. 5 U.S.c. § 552(a)(4)(A)(ii)(II). 

3. Defendants DHS, DHS-CBP, DHS-OIG, DHS-CIS, and DHS-ICE's failure to classify 

Plaintiffs ACLU-SC, NILC, and NLG-SF as representatives of the news media for purposes of assessing 

processing fees associated with Plaintiffs' FOIA requests is in violation of 5 U.S.c. § 

552(a)(4)(A)(ii)(II) and applicable regulations promulgated thereunder. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs request that this Court award them the following relief: 

1. Order all Defendants to conduct a reasonable search for all responsive 
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2.
 

3. 

4. 

5. 

6. 

DATED: November 12, 2008 

records;
 

Order all Defendants to promptly disclose the requested records in their
 

entirety, and make copies available to Plaintiffs;
 

Enjoin Defendants DHS, DHS-CBP, DHS-CIS, DHS-OIG, and DHS-ICE
 

from charging Plaintiffs fees for the processing of their requests;
 

Provide for expeditious proceedings in this action pursuant to 28 U.S.c. §
 

1657;
 

Award Plaintiffs their reasonable costs and attorneys' fees;
 

Grant such other relief as the Court may deem just and proper.
 

Respectfully Submitted, 

"~'," '
 
'. r (- ,/
 

Ja~~~kIv V \, 
IMMIGRANTS' RIGHTS CLINIC
 
ST1cNFORD LAW SCHOOL
 
559 Nathan Abbott Way
 
Stanford, CA 94305
 
Tel: (650) 724-2442
 
Fax: (650) 723-4426
 

Attorney for Plaintiffs National Lawyers'
 
Guild San Francisco Chapter, American
 
Civil Liberties Union Foundation of Southern
 
California, and National Immigration Law Center
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